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1.  Introduction  
 
As part of the Heritage weekend which takes place at North Bank on 8

th
 and 9

th
 September 

2007, at a time when the latest refurbishment of this wonderful building comes to a 

completion, we have decided to produce a book which brings together historical information 

about North Bank and the church at Muswell Hill. We also wanted to include a number of 

other fascinating features which readers might find interesting; these include, amongst other 

items, historical census data and maps from many years ago.  

 

2007 also celebrates the 75
th
 anniversary of use of North Bank for Methodist purposes. 

 

However, there is one word of ówarningô, as well as, thankfully, one word of óopportunityô! 

 

The ówarningô is that the book has been pulled together in a very short space of time using a 

number of documents, recognised in the Acknowledgements. The quantity of documents and 

photographs available has been numerous and variable, and I have had to be fairly selective in 

what to include and what to exclude. Whilst I have tried to remain faithful to the correct dates 

and events over the years, it is possible that mistakes have crept in. I hope these are few and I 

also hope that they donôt diminish your enjoyment of the book. 

 

The óopportunityô is that we intend to produce further versions of this book, both to correct 

mistakes and also to augment information contained herein. Your contributions in this area 

will be gratefully received and I will be extremely pleased to hear from you.  

 

Whilst the final section of the book provides an acknowledgement of sources used in the 

production of the book, special thanks must go to the following without whose contribution 

the publication would never have taken place: 

 Gill Simpson, for her wealth of wonderful documents and photographs and for her 

unstinting enthusiasm regarding the heritage we enjoy at North Bank; 

 Elaine Abson, for those extra fascinating snippets and pieces of background, as well as of 

course spotting that the óGuile of Workersô was really a óguildô (computer spell checkers 

canôt spot everything) ï thanks for her support in the production of this book; 

 Pat and Norman Argent for the ministerial photographs (faithfully rescued from imminent 

oblivion during the demolition of the old church) and for input into recent church events 

(thank goodness someone keeps back copies of Wellspring!) 

 David Bedford, Colin Glew, John Abson and David Restarick for their valuable 

contributions relating to more recent activities within the church.  

 

So, on behalf of the Heritage Weekend Committee, who endorsed the production of this book, 

I hope you enjoy what you find within and I hope that reading this book enriches your 

experience of this wonderful part of Muswell Hill and London. 

 

Jon Simms (September, 2007) 
(email : jon.simms@tiscali.co.uk) 
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2.  Muswell Hill Methodist Church  

A History of Muswell Hill Methodist Church from 1891 to 2007 

 

Early Beginnings  
 

Methodism at Muswell Hill began as an organised society in a Norwegian Chalet somewhere 

near the bottom of Grove Avenue. It is quite possible, however - in fact, highly probable - 

that, prior to this, Methodist folk in this district met in one another's homes. 

 

Rev Walter H Armstrong (an ex-President of the Methodist Conference) remembered 

conducting a service, as a local preacher, in the drawing room of a house in Muswell Hill. 

This was the home of George Smith who lived at Essex Lodge in Colney Hatch Lane, known 

as Alabama, occupied by Mr and Mrs Proctor and forming part of the North Bank Estate. 

George Smith and his family were Baptists, and this house was used for non-conformist 

services prior to any Non-conformist Church existing in Muswell Hill. It is very probable that 

Methodist services were also held at William Russellôs house, known as Tottenham Wood 

House. Later on, this became the Muswell Hill Golf Club House, which unfortunately was 

demolished many years ago. 

 

The Norwegian Chalet was part of the Alexandra Palace Exhibition, and under an agreement 

dated April 9
th
 1891, the Methodist Trustees acquired the use of the premises ófor religious 

purposes onlyô from March 1
st
 of that year, on payment of a monthly rental of 1/- to cover all 

rates, taxes and charges. The work continued there very happily and W J Message 

remembered attending the Norwegian Chalet about in 1891 or 1892, after spending three or 

four years as a Choir boy and Sunday School scholar at St. Jamesôs Church. The congregation 

numbered thirty or forty. Local preachers usually conducted Divine Worship, but the Rev J 

Leonard Posnett, a supernumerary minister, who had a reputation for very long sermons, 

occasionally was the preacher. Mrs Shutes and others also attended at the Norwegian Chalet 

and clearly remembered the Sunday School outings in the Palace grounds. 

 

At that time, there were no houses in Alexandra Park Road, which was a country lane. Later, 

it was thought that the Trustees of Alexandra Palace would give the Methodists a site near the 

Chalet, especially as William Russell was a bailiff for the Alexandra Palace properties. He 

came from Middle Lane Church, but about this time he was a most active worker at Muswell 

Hill, being a Society Steward and Sunday School Superintendent.  

 

However, no site was made available, and EN Gill sold the then freehold site at the top of 

Alexandra Park Road to the Wesleyans, for about £400, in 1898. 
 

The Building of a New Church  
 

A Trusteesô Meeting was held on January 31
st
, 1898 at Holly Park. The Rev J Aldred presided 

and others present were Messrs. T Boney, J Bronsdon, T H Evans, E N Gill, G W Munt, J H 

Read, G McArthur Scales and J E Seaton. A Resolution was passed that a church be built at 

Muswell Hill, of brick, with stone dressings, to accommodate not less than 700, with chancel, 

organ chamber, Ministerôs vestry, church parlour and also a schoolroom to accommodate 400 

at least, with classrooms, kitchen etc. This was the first step towards the first proper 

Methodist church buildings in Muswell Hill. 
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On July 7
th
, 1898, the following advertisement appeared in the Methodist Recorder: 

 

New Wesleyan Church, Muswell Hill, N. Highgate Circuit. 

THE MEMORIAL STONELAYING CEREMONY 
will take place on Wednesday, July 13, 1898, at 3 p.m. 

Twenty-five ladies and gentlemen will lay stones. A short Address will be given by 

Rev. J. SCOTT UDGETT, M.A. 

 

Luncheon at 2 p.m. Tickets 2/6 each. Tea at 5.30. 

A PUBLIC MEETING IN MARQUEE at 7 p.m. Chairman: George Johnston Scales, Esq. Supported by 

Revs. C. J. Parker, M.A. (Vicar of Clerkenwell), W. D. Walters, T. Evans, the Circuit Ministers, with 

Messrs. F. C. Champion, B.A., R. Carr, G. W. Munt, T. W. J. Sargant, T. G. Johnson,R. W. Carr, J. W. 

Read, S. Hardy, E. Crawshaw, C. Goodman, 

J. Wilson, W. J. Scales, G. M. Scales and others. 

 

 

 
Muswell Methodist Church in Colney Hatch Lane 

 

On July 21
st
, 1898, this extract appeared in the Methodist Recorder: 

 

NEW WESLEYAN CHURCH AT MUSWELL HILL 
 

Methodism in this beautiful Northern suburb of London is making rapid progress. In 1891, owing to 

the financial failure of the Alexandra Palace, part of the estate was let for building purposes. One of 

the rustic buildings in the grounds, known as the Norwegian House, was secured by a Homsey 

Methodist at a nominal rental. The building would seat 150 persons and had a spacious vestry. The 

building was opened for worship by the Rev. Robert Culley, and Methodism with this shelter has taken 

strong root, and such has been the success of the infant cause that last Wednesday afternoon Memorial 

Stones of the handsome permanent Church were laid. The architect is Mr. Josiah Gunton, of the firm of 

Gordon; Lowther and Gunton, who has also designed the two new Churches in the Clapton Circuit ï of  

which he is one of the Circuit Stewards - the unique Church lately opened at Chelmsford, and many 

other Methodist buildings in London and the provinces. Mr. Gunton is a lay representative to the Hull 

Conference. Stones were laid on Wednesday by twenty-five ladies and gentlemen, the Rev. J. Scott 

Lidgett, M.A. giving an address. Tea was served in a marquee, and in the evening Mr. G. Johnston 

Scales, one of the leading Methodists of the vigorous Highgate Circuit, in which the new Church is 

situated, presided over a large and enthusiastic public meeting. 
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Fortunately, no licenses were needed in those days, neither was there any ban on private 

enterprise. Builders, Messrs. Castle & Son of Clapton, pressed on with the work, and on 

Wednesday, April 12
th
, 1899 the Opening Ceremony took place. In the afternoon, the Rev 

Hugh Price Hughes, President of the Conference, preached. This was followed by tea, and at 

the Evening Meeting, Robert W Perks was in the Chair, the speakers being the Rev C H 

Kelly, W D Watkins and others. 

 

So the work of Methodism was started in its beautiful new home, though one must bear in 

mind there was no chancel, neither was there a tower to the Church, and only a small organ in 

the South Transept, as the Trustees at that time could not see their way to spend more than 

£200 on this instrument. 
 

Other Premises  
 

The Order of Morning Prayer, which became an honoured tradition at Muswell Hill, 

antedated the building, for in the Trusteesô Minute Book of 6
th
 April 1899, the following 

resolution appears: ñThat the Morning Service be liturgical, as conducted in the past, and the 

Evening Service be continued as before.ò 

 

It is interesting to note that on June 2
nd

 1900, Mr and Mrs R L Howe (parents of our current 

member ï as these words are written in 2007 ï Marjory Howe, the youngest child of Mr and 

Mrs R L Howe) were the first couple to be married in the Church - by the Rev J L Posnett. 

 
The original scheme for the Church included the building of Sunday School premises to 

accommodate 400 children at least, with Classrooms, Kitchen, etc, but this work was not 

started until February 8
th
, 1904. The builders were Messrs Joseph Dorey & Co. of Brentford. 

 

Prior to the Congregational Church in Tetherdown being built, there was an iron building in 

Tetherdown, opposite Pages Lane, used as a Union Church. After the Congregationalists had 

opened their premises, the Wesleyans acquired this Iron Hall, on February 25
th
 1901, and put 

it up next to the Methodist Church for use as Sunday School premises. This temporary Hall 

appears to have been a gift by a Mr Hughes. When the Sunday School premises were opened, 

the Iron Hall was removed to Pembroke Road and was still in use for many years in 

connection with Wesley Hall work. 

 

 

Coldfall Branch Sunday School 
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The Stone-laying of the Sunday School premises took place on April 28
th 

1904, and the 

following account appeared in the Methodist Recorder: 

 

Five years ago, when the present chapel was built, Muswell Hill was a picturesque suburb with a small 

population. The rapid growth of the neighbourhood, however, during this period - the inhabitants now 

numbering over 20,000 - has rendered the completion of the Church, and the building of adequate 

school premises, an absolute necessity; and on Thursday last, the congregation with friends from other 

parts of the Highgate Circuit, met to lay foundation stones of the new schools and vestries. 

 

Stones were laid by Mrs. W. H. Boney, wife of the architect, £25; Mrs. Joseph Dixon (for Mr. James 

Dunn) £25; Mr. Arthur Boney, Circuit Steward, £50; and Mr. Russell for the Sunday School. Mrs. 

Ernest D. Green, wife of the resident Minister, laid a stone on behalf of the ladies of the congregation, 

who, to the number of twenty-two, presented purses realising £117 18s. 6d. This was followed by the 

laying of bricks by the young people, and £51 10s. 0d. was contributed. Handsomely bound volumes of 

Methodist publications, gifts from the Trustees, were presented to the stone-layers by the Revs. Joseph 

Dixon, G. T. Dixon, J. L. Posnett, F. Woodmass and E. D. Green. The music was admirably rendered 

by the Church choir under the able direction of Mr. A. B. Hodge. An address from the Rev. Joseph 

Dixon completed the afternoon Service, and the company adjourned to tea and an organ recital by Mr. 

George Swidenbank, who had recently been appointed organist. 

 

The evening meeting was presided over by the Senior Steward, Mr. T. H. Morton, in the unavoidable 

absence of Mr. J. B. Ingle ofBlackheath. The Secretary, Mr. H. Barriball, in presenting the financial 

statement, said that the total cost of the scheme was £6,500. Allowing for debt and grants from the 

M.C.B.F. and Century Fund, we needed £4,250. Towards this sum, £2,000 was already promised-

almost entirely from the Muswell Hill Society. Addresses were delivered by Mr. Ford, Society Steward, 

who showed the almost phenomenal growth of the Church during the past five years, by Mr. Arthur 

Boney, and the Revs. Joseph F. B. Cowl and F. Woodmass. The Rev. E. D. Green appealed for further 

help and, stimulated by an offer of£25 from Mr. Norman Sargant and a similar sum from Mr. A. B. 

Hodge, the Meeting rose to enthusiasm and promises in varying amounts were announced until the 

total for the day reached the gratifying sum of £550, leaving £1,700 to be raised to fulfill the condition 

of the General Chapel Committee. 

 

The Trustees, at their Meeting in June 1904, confirmed the recommendation of the Building 

Committee ñthat the Tower should be proceeded with at once, so as to complete the whole 

work by October next.ò 

 

After an interval of six months, not only were the new Sunday School premises completed, 

but the Chancel and Tower had been added to the Church, and on Wednesday, October 12
th
 

1904, the Opening Ceremony took place. Rev Marshall Hartley, ex-President of the 

Conference, preached at the Afternoon Service. Mrs Alfred H Carr performed the Opening 

Ceremony (for presumably the Sunday School premises). Tea followed and in the evening, a 

Public Meeting was held in the new School Room, W Davis Green, MP presiding, with Rev 

Marshall Hartley and Circuit Ministers as speakers. So the Church and School premises were 

completed, and the total cost, including furnishing, was, in those days, only £12,730. 
 

A very generous offer was made by the Choirmaster, Mr A B Hodge, in the early part of 

1911, soon after the addition of the new organ. He proposed that the whole of the Chancel 

should be oak panelled to match the oak panelling of the Organ, and he offered to pay the 

whole cost. This generous gesture of Mr Hodge was gladly accepted by the Trustees, who 

sanctioned the work to be done. This made a most beautiful and dignified addition to the 

Sanctuary. 
 

Stained Glass Windows  
 

Muswell Hill Methodist Church rightly has always been proud of its stained glass windows, 

and the first to be put in was the large East Window in the Chancel, in memory of Rev J 

Leonard Posnett and Mr E N Gill, who were great friends in the early years of the Church. 
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This was dedicated on Saturday, May 29
th
 1915. The Service was conducted by Rev Frederick 

Green and the address was given by Rev F Woodmass, while the unveiling was performed by 

Mrs E N Gill. The dedicatory prayer was offered by Rev W Russell Maltby, and the window 

was received on behalf of the Trustees by the resident Minister, Rev J C Adlard. The window, 

the design and execution of which were the work of Mr H Salisbury of St Albans, depicted 

the ascension of Christ, with St John and St Peter below, their eyes cast upward, enthralled by 

this majestic scene. Across the Window were the words, as though being spoken by Our Lord, 

ñBecause I live, ye shall live also.ò  
 

When Mrs Chester died in 1927, a stained glass was suggested as a fitting memorial to her 

gracious influence. Gradually, however, there developed in Guy Chesterôs mind a larger idea 

and purpose. Many friends were consulted and at length the plan emerged to adorn the church 

with some splendid windows of unique design. Years later, in 1950, the church was enriched 

by additional stained glass windows in the Chancel and South Transept, gifts of Guy Chester.  

 

 
One of the 8 small side windows along the side of the church 

 

Those in the South Transept were unveiled and dedicated on Palm Sunday, 1950, in the 

presence of the Mayor of Hornsey and other members of the Council. They depict a number 

of war-time scenes of rescue, first aid, etc, illustrating how even evil can be turned into 

opportunities for doing good. In 1952, the Chancel windows (one depicting Bach, and the 

other Handel) were unveiled to commemorate the late George Swidenbank who was the 

greatly beloved organist and choirmaster from 1903 to 1947. Incidentally, these beautiful 

windows are described in Arthur Mee's book on Middlesex in the Queen's England series of 

County Guide Books. 
 

The Great War and Afterwards  
 

During the period of the 1914-1918 War, Morning Services were magnificently attended, the 

Church being almost full, and the evening congregations were also good. A large number of 

men went from the church to serve in the forces; unfortunately many of them never returned. 

Two Portland Stone plaques, rarely found in Methodist Churches, and currently placed in the 

Narthex of the Pages Lane church, were commissioned by a few members of the 

congregation. In the original church, the plaques were positioned in oak paneling at the back 

of the Church and gave the names of all who served in both World Wars. The original plaque 

was dedicated at a special Service on Sunday morning, July 4
th
 1920, conducted by a former 

minister, Rev JC Adlard. 
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IN REMEMBRANCE  
1914-1918 

BRENTON, THOMAS R 
COOPER, RONALD 
CUTHBERT, SYDNEY 
FORD, RUFUS 
GADSDEN, WILLIAM D 
HODGE, LIONEL R 
HUXHAM, FRANK 
HYDE, EWART H 
JACKSON, CECIL T 
JENKIN, PERCY S 
JOLLY, ERNEST R 
NEWLAND, EDWARD A 
OLIVER, JOHN B 
PHILLIPS, FRANK 
POWELL, SYDNEY L 
SHAW, WILLIAM D 
SWANNELL, RALPH 

 IN REMEMBRANCE  
1939-1945 

AUGUST, DOUGLAS C 
AYTON, PHILIIP A 
BLIGH, PETER J 
CLAPHAM, ARTHUR G R 
DOWNER, ALAN R 
HUBBARD, ROBERT A W 
LEECH ROSS C 
PITT, DONALD 

Names on War memorial Plaques 

 

Few churches can carry on without occasional financial efforts, and in the month of 

November, 1920, £1,114 was raised at a bazaar held in the Lecture Hall. This was to provide 

for the redecoration of the Church and general repairs and renovation of the Buildings. 

Another bazaar was held in 1923, to provide for the electric lighting of the church and the 

cost of renovating the organ. The organ was further re-modelled in 1934, when the 

communion table and chancel were made more dignified by the gift of hangings and carpets. 

 

 
Interior of Colney Hatch Lane Church 

 

The union of the three Methodist Churches took place in 1932, when Muswell Hill Methodist 

Church  became part of the great united Methodist Church. It was some time after this that the 

then new Hymn Book was ready, and the Trustees authorised the use of the new Hymn Book 

in the Church in September, 1933. 

 

A Dutch Fair was organised on a large scale in March 1933, when over £1,000 was raised to 

wipe out the deficit on the church and Trust Account. 
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Further Adornments  
 

Further artistic additions were made to the Sanctuary by the installation of more stained glass 

windows. After four years of preparation, with numerous committees at the house of Guy 

Chester and the most painstaking care on the part of the artists, Miss A N Yoxall and Miss E 

M Whitford, of Birmingham, the eight small windows and the large West Window were fitted 

with stained glass; the windows were donated to the church by Guy Chester. The four 

windows on the North side (of the original church) depicted what the Church ótodayô owed to 

those who have upheld the Christian Faith in the past, while those on the South side portrayed 

the growth of Sunday School work and training for service. The subject of the West Window 

was Christ the inspiration of genius, and shows Pasteur, the French scientist, Raphael, the 

Italian artist, Beethoven, the German composer, and Shakespeare, the English poet, with 

Christ as the central figure. Almost all these windows were removed from the original church 

and are now part of the current church in Pages Lane. The Dedication and Unveiling 

Ceremony took place on March 6
th
 1937, when a large congregation assembled for a special 

service in the afternoon, followed by tea and an evening gathering. An illustrated booklet, 

entitled óBeauty in the Sanctuaryô, giving full details, still exists (a synopsis of that booklet is 

provided in a separate chapter of this publication). 

 

The North Transept Window, in memory of Mr G N Withers, was given and unveiled by his 

widow, on Sunday morning, December 4
th
 1938. This was the work of Vernon Spreadbury, 

FRSA, FIBD. In the two centre lights are figures of Jesus depicting Truth and Righteousness. 

On the left is the figure of David; he is shown playing the harp, with the words below the 

figure, ñI will sing aloud of Thy Mercy.ò In the right-hand light, peace is represented by the 

prophet Isaiah. Below the figure is the prophecy relating to the coming of Our Lord, ñHis 

name shall be called the Prince of Peace.ò The large tracery at the head of the Window 

depicts the Morning of Life. 

 

Coping with War  
 

This brings us to the year 1939, when, on the first Sunday in September, the then new 

Minister, Rev John Crowlesmith, occupied the pulpit, and great consternation occurred 

among the congregation on hearing the first air raid warning. This proved a false alarm. The 

following years brought many air raids, with the result that large numbers of children were 

evacuated from London and many of our families also left the district. Nevertheless, the 

church carried on, not only with its Sunday Services but with many of the mid-week 

activities. No Church could have been better served in loyalty and devotion than by John 

Crowlesmith, while his wife gave him every support. We are thankful that very little serious 

damage was done to the Church, School Building or to North Bank during the war period, 

though certain blast damage to the church and the roof of the hall still had to be dealt with 

after the war. 

 

The War Memorial, or Hall of Remembrance, which took the form of an enlargement to the 

Vestibu1e, was dedicated on Sunday morning, October 3
rd
 1948, and the Stone Plaques, con-

taining the names of those who fell in the 1914-1918 War and the 1939-1945 War, were 

unveiled by His Worship the Mayor of Hornsey. While this short history of the church has 

dealt mostly with the building itself, the real life of every church is in the people which it en-

deavours to serve. Muswell Hill has been greatly blessed by the ministers not only resident at 

Muswell Hill, but also in the Highgate Circuit. Furthermore, there has been a wealth of able 

and gifted laymen, who have helped to maintain the work at a high standard of spiritual life.  
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Membership and Circuit Assessment  
 

The membership and circuit assessment has changed through the years. Here are a few 

illustrative figures: 

 
Year Membership  Year Circuit 

Assessment 

1903 

1913 

1925 

1934 

1937 

1940 

1949 

1964 

1965 

1966 

1967 

1987 

154 

301 

379 

435 

468 

412 

400 

406 

416 

417 

437 

244 

1897 

1904 

1916 

1949 

1978 

1981 

1982 

1984 

1989 

1990 

1991 

1998 

1999 

2001 

2002 

2004 

£27 

£374 

£500 

£1,080 

£6,240 

£7,300 

£9,500 

£11,132 

£18,500 

£23,820 

£30,200 

£34,500 

£35,300 

£39,000 

£40,400 

£43,050 

 

 

 
Interior of Colney Hatch Lane Church 

 

Post War Era  
 
The years 1945 ï 1951 are well remembered for the ministry of the Rev Dr A Stanley 

Leyland. He and his wife were responsible for the establishment of a flourishing Womenôs 

Club, the Young Wivesô Club and a Twenty Plus Club, and for their good work in the Sunday 

School. It was under Rev Leylandôs pastorate that the church accepted the challenge and 

opportunities offered by the then new scheme of exchange of ministers with the Methodist 

Church of America. During this time many distinguished representatives, not only of 

Methodism, but of other denominations from overseas, occupied the pulpit. 
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In 1951, the Rev Leyland left Muswell Hill for Barnet and was succeeded by the Rev Fred W 

J Cottrell, a former missionary in China, and RAF chaplain. Although carrying the added 

responsibility of the Superintendency of the Highgate Circuit, he entered actively, as did Mrs 

Cottrell, into the life and work of the church, and always found time for individuals in trouble 

of any kind. Both had to contend with illness during their time at Muswell Hill, and it was 

reasons of health that compelled them, reluctantly and to the regret of all who knew them, to 

accept an invitation to Torquay in 1955. 

Rev Cottrell was followed by Rev W Fletcher Fleet. He and his wife were described as 

extremely zealous for the welfare of the Church and its members and they also undertook 

successful ministerial trips to America, returning from them órefreshed and reinvigoratedô. 

 

 
Interior of Colney Hatch Lane Church 

 
During the 1950s, several other Ministers shared in the fellowship at Muswell Hill, including  

 Rev R Wilfred Pile, who had recently returned from Ceylon before his visit and at the 

time was one of the General Secretaries at the Mission House; 

 Rev Christopher Hughes Smith who was then serving on the mission field, later returned 

to Muswell Hill in the 1990s as General Secretary of the Methodist Department of 

Education and Youth, having served as President of the Conference prior to this; 

 Rev Rev Herbert J Goodman, who having retired from full-time service, was often able to 

conduct Sunday worship and assist at the celebration of Holy Communion; 

 Rev Bryan H Reed, the then General Secretary of the Methodist Youth Department, who 

during the 1980s became resident at the Meadow; 

 Rev Reginald C Bedford, also of the Methodist Youth Department, and whose son, local 

preacher David Bedford is currently a member of Muswell Hill Methodist Church; 

Davidôs marriage to Norma was one of the last weddings to take place in the old church.  

 

Sunday School  
 

F W McPherson, who had given generously of his time and substance as Sunday School 

Superintendent since 1947, left the district in 1950. The Sunday School was able to maintain 

its high traditions despite continual staffing problems. Mr McPherson was succeeded by 

Kenneth Packman who was supported by his wife Dorothy, and who gave all his energies to 

the task until 1957, when he was appointed Society Steward and was compelled to hand on 

Superintendancy to Jack Thorp.  
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Throughout this period, the Coldfall Branch continued under the efficient supervision of 

Phyllis Margetts and for very many years Marjory Howe assiduously shared the responsibility 

of this Branch School. Preparation meetings were held every Friday evening and the Sunday 

School remained numerically very strong with hundreds attending each week.  The classes 

came into worship for the first part but there was little or no recognition of their presence with 

the children going through the full liturgy like everyone else.  

 

 
Coldfall Branch Sunday School 

 

The Sunday School itself occupied the whole of the adjoining school premises with a number 

of classes meeting in the large school hall with other classes in the numerous rooms 

throughout. Phyllis Margetts remained as Sunday School Superintendent for many years; 

Winifred Sharman was Superintendent in the 1970s and Mary Smart took over in 1985. It was 

under Maryôs leadership that the Sunday School was renamed Young Church (1980) to keep 

it in line with contemporary thinking. Mary handed over the Superintendancy to Kathryn 

Schofield in, who in turn handed over to Nicola Jones, the present Superintendent. 

 
In the 1950s (very much like today) it was a matter of great concern that so many children left 

Sunday School upon reaching adolescence. Incidentally, Sunday School at the time was held 

in the afternoon, as was traditional in many churches. From 1956, the Coldfall Branch had to 

limit its activities to Beginners and Primary Departments and in 1958, initially as an 

experiment, it decided to hold Sunday School in the morning, instead of in the afternoon, and 

to bring the children into the Church Service for the first fifteen minutes, thus enabling them 

to share in the corporate act of worship. The experiment was very successful and the practice 

has been continued ever since. From 1990, children have been present at the start of services 

(with the exception of communion and other special services when they come in at the end). 

 
In 1959, the Diamond Jubilee of the church, a former óscholarô from the Sunday School and 

missionary in Madras, India, Rev Stuart Luckcock, conducted the Anniversary Services on 

Sunday, 31
st
 May. Two members of the Sunday School staff and former missionaries in China 

working with Sunday School at the time: Louie Tucker (Wenchow) and Mrs Norah Moreton 

(Hong Kong). Muswell Hill had always been strongly Overseas Missions minded, and it is 

recorded that two former Sunday School scolars proceeded to the Mission Field, Rev Thomas 

Baird  (Bulawayo, Southern Rhodesia), and Miss Mary M Scott, (Dharapuram, South India). 
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Other Groups  
 

Over the years, various groups have flourished, often being replaced by others with different 

names. The Senior Department, once zealously led by Arthur G Castle, was followed by the 

Young Peopleôs Circle under Gerald Lansley. The Youth Club, to which David J Downer and 

Mr and Mrs Bertram Brent gave so much time and enthusiasm with the assistance 

subsequently of Charles Moon, in turn gave place to a vigorous Youth Fellowship, which was 

for a time under the leadership of Robert Holdaway and June Lansley; it met on Sunday and 

Tuesday nights under the guidance of Mr and Mrs James Hodgson. The Twenty Plus Club 

(for young adults) met on Sunday nights from its formation in 1949 until it was superceded by 

the óAfter Eights Clubô in 1979. óAfter Eightsô met regularly until the late 1980s. 

 
The Men's Fellowship, which seemed to be flourishing at the beginning of the 1950s, faded 

out shortly afterwards for no apparent reason. There was nothing quite to take its place until 

in 1956 Rev Fletcher Fleet revived the Class Meetings. In 1960, there were five classes, most 

of which met once a month in peopleôs homes for fellowship and discussion. Occassionally, 

united fellowship classes were also held. Housegroups are still part of church activity today. 

 
The Wivesô Club, under the leadership of Mrs J D Mortimer, grew considerably during the 

1950s. In addition to their ordinary meetings on alternate Wednesdays, there was a monthly 

Discussion Group. Although they disclaimed the title of óYoung Wivesô Clubô, according to 

records, they seemed as youthful and attractive as ever! There was also a very popular section 

of the Wivesô Club (The Thursday Club and Crèche), which met on Thursday afternoons 

under the leadership of Mrs G Alley, with Mrs H W Thorp as Secretary. 
 

The Institute  
 

It will be of more than passing interest to record the history of the Institute. About the time of 

the First World War, the Senior Department of the Sunday School was called the Institute, 

and met in the Church Parlour every Sunday afternoon. When North Bank was opened in 

October 1932, the Institute transferred to the Oak Room. It was from this Sunday afternoon 

Institute that the earlier Monday evening Institute started in October 1919, just after the young 

fellows were returning from the First World War. The Institute, under the virile leadership of 

Guy Chester (who was Secretary since its inception) maintained a most active and extremely 

interesting fellowship. Many distinguished speakers visited North Bank and imparted much 

information and food for thought, while others entertained the members in lighter ways. 

During the 1950s, each Monday evening during the winter months, a strong cross-section of 

the church met and many new friendships were formed At times, over 100 people attended 

the Institute. Altogether, the Institute was a source of strength to the church and it always 

responded when called upon by the Leaders' Meeting to undertake special responsibilities, as 

in the case of the International Fair in 1954, when the Institute stall made an important 

contribution to the final result. Programmes included the annual meetings and appeals on 

behalf of Overseas, Home and London Missions, which greatly helped to sustain interest in 

these important departments of the Methodist Connexion. Each year, too, the Institute Carol 

Party toured the neighbourhood and collected for The Methodist Homes for the Aged, and 

The National Children's Home, and it helped the League of Service Annual Autumn Sale with 

a stall on behalf of the East End Mission. Also, each March, it held a most successful 

Missionary Supper, which substantially increased the Church contribution to its Overseas 

Mission effort. Guy Chester was actively supported by Leslie and Jean Lee. We, also, are not 

unmindful of the magnificent help given by the industrious members of the North Bank 

Working Committee in maintaining the beautiful North Bank house.   
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Scouts and Guide s 
 

During the 1950s, the Guides prospered under the leadership of Ursula Rattenbury and her 

colleagues, to the extent that there were two Guide Companies and two Brownie Packs, the 4
th
 

and 5
th
 Muswell Hill, as well as a Sea Ranger Crew. At the time, two girls, Helen Clemens 

and Susan Jacka achieved the coveted distinction of becoming Queen's Guides. The 7
th
 

Muswell Hill Scout Group suffered many changes of leadership. In 1951, Patrick Rattenbury 

left the district and was succeeded as Group Scoutmaster by Kenneth August. Three years 

later Mr August was sent abroad by his firm and Mr Ronald Spurgeon took over the 

responsibility for the Group at short notice. He, in turn, left London and Alan August, 

Kennethôs brother, took over the group. In spite of difficulties, the Group held its own well in 

the District, and one of the boys (John Morrell) succeeded in becoming a Queen's Scout in 

1956. 
 

The Guild of Helpers  
 

In 1958, the Guild of Helpers was formed. There has always been a nucleus of devoted 

workers who could be relied on to help decorate the vestries or carry out other odd jobs, 

however tedious; the practical work unobtrusively and efficiently done by Fred Flight and his 

colleagues is lovingly remembered. The idea was to invite church members and adherents to 

offer their services in some specific manner. It was a real inspiration to see members of the 

Guild tidying the gardens, painting and undertaking many other practical (and sometimes 

menial) jobs to the glory of God. Others, in sympathy with the object of the Guild but unable 

to take active part in the work, assisted and encouraged with generous financial gifts. The 

spirit of the Guild of Helpers was aptly expressed in their motto: ñLove Servesò. The Guild 

continued faithfully for over 20 years until on 29
th
 May 1982 the pews were dusted and 

carpets swept for the last time in preparation for the final service in the church. 

 

In 1957, it is recorded that Connie Foster, who, with meticulous care, looked after the Church 

Membership Roll for nearly thirty years, retired from the position of Registrar.   
 

 
Muswell Methodist Church in Colney Hatch Lane 
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Ministerial Exchanges  
 

Muswell Hill has seen many exchanges between our ministers and distinguished American 

Methodist ministers. The first seemed to take place in 1947, when Rev Theodore C Mayer of 

Warren, Ohio came to Muswell Hill. In 1949, Rev Stanley Leyland exchanged pastorates with 

Dr Gaston Foote of Dayton, Ohio. In 1951, Dr G Dempster Yinger of Albion, Michigan, 

came for a month with his wife and their daughter Yvonne. They evidently liked us, because 

they visited Muswell Hill again in July 1957, while on holiday in England! In the summer of 

1958 Rev Fletcher Fleet exchanged pulpit and manse with the Rev John B Tate of Augusta, 

Georgia. For five weeks he and his wife, Nettie, accompanied by their friend Mrs J L Harper, 

entered heart and soul into the fellowship and its activities and endeared themselves to all 

with their humour, vitality and unaffected friendliness. Apparently, the way John led the 

singing from the pulpit was of particular note. During their stay Muswell Hill, Theodore 

Mayer visited briefly and he introduced a party of other American ministers and laymen with 

whom he was traveling through London on a European pilgrimage of goodwill. Much later in 

1979, we are told that several preachers from California came to Muswell Hill, notably Rev 

Paul Yinger. Later still, in July and August 1991, John Camp and his wife Joan came to visit 

from Massachusetts. 
 

Special Services and Events  
 

There have been a number of special services that stand out in the memory in the years after 

the last war, notably the special broadcast service conducted by the Rev Fred W J Cottrell in 

July, 1952 and the Coronation Service of 1953, conducted by Dr Dorothy Farrar, who was 

then Vice-President of the Methodist Conference at the time; the visit of the Methodist Radio 

Choir from Stuttgart; the Choir Festivals of 1949 and 1956; the various services conducted by 

the Rev Edwin W Sangster, Rev W Russell Shearer, Professor Charles A Coulson, (Vice-

President from 1958-1959) and others well known to Methodism.  

 

Muswell Hill entertained the London North-West District Synod in 1951 and again in 1958, 

the church feeding some 200 ministers one day and nearly 400 ministers and laymen the next.  

However, the biggest event of that period, both for the amount of the work devoted to it and 

for its financial result, was the International Fair of November, 1954. It had been necessary to 

combine the annual garden party with a gift day in order to balance accounts, but on this 

occasion it was felt necessary for all sections of the church to make a really special effort in 

order to enable urgent repairs to be done. This was a combined operation, culminating in three 

happy and fruitful days, the result of which the church treasurer received the splendid sum of 

£2,000, and the fellowship of those who worked together was greatly strengthened. The 

occasion was enhanced by the attractive decor work and artistic advice provided by Gwenyth 

Clark (later Gwyneth Whitaker). 

 
Another important event in 1954 was the election of Guy Chester as Vice-President of the 

Methodist Conference. This is the highest honour that can be bestowed on a layman in 

Methodism, and by a happy coincidence the Rev W Russell Shearer, was President of the 

Conference at the same time. Clearly, even today, we are indebted to Guy Chester for the 

lifetime of devoted service he has so lovingly rendered not only to Methodism generally, but 

in particular to our own church in Muswell Hill; we are indeed fortunate that he was able to 

give so much enthusiasm to everything which he supported, in particular the fulfillment of his 

cherished ideal in the erection of the new Youth Hostel and Headquarters in Pages Lane. The 

life of Guy Chester is outlined in a later chapter of this book. 
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Worship and Youth Work in the1950s and 1960s  
 
In the 1950s and 1960s, Sunday morning worship was very formal and followed the full 

liturgical Order of Morning Prayer every week. This was in keeping with the very óhigh 

churchô appearance of the building and led to the church being commonly known as the 

óCathedral of Methodismô.  Those growing up in the congregation at that time can still recite 

the famous words of the liturgy: ñWe have erred and strayed like lost sheep; we have 

followed too much the desires and devices of our own hearts and there is no good with in usò. 

About 100 attended morning worship. Sunday Evening services were strong with sometimes 

300 attending, but attendances fell away during the 1970s and it was in the 1980s that the 

congregation fell below 50 for the first time ever.  Interestingly although the concept of 

Welcome Stewards was formally introduced in July 1990, it was a feature of worship in post-

war years that Guy Chester himself ócontrolledô the centre aisle, personally taking 

worshippers to their seats. Another feature of worship at this time was the contribution made 

by the very strong choir distinguishable by their blue cassocks.  

 

 
Muswell Methodist Church in Colney Hatch Lane 

 
Youth Work thrived throughout the 1950s and 1960s. A flourishing Youth Club met in North 

Bank every Friday night with a sprinkling of youngsters from the church itself but many 

being drawn in from the surrounding community. Dances were common in the sixties with, 

on one famous occasion, the Band being the óRavensô, who about a week later changed their 

name to the óKinksô, becoming one of the world's all time great Bands. The Youth Club went 

on a holiday to Guernsey in 1967. The Youth Club also played its part in the development of 

Folk Music with the main members of one of the greatest folk groups, the Fairport 

Convention meeting at the club. A Young Peoples Circle met every Sunday afternoon for 

worship in the Oak Room - this was largely youngsters from Church families and met for 

years under the leadership of Gerald Lansley.  
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Changes on the North Bank Estate  
 
On 14

th
 March 1959, the stone laying ceremony took place at Chester House hostel. The 

óhostelô was built at a cost of Ã230,000 and on 14
th
 May 1960, it opened. By 1964, 284 

residents, from 32 districts (plus 12 overseas) had stayed in the hostel; there was by then, 

reportedly, a 2 year waiting list. Interestingly, because of a change in óthe use of Englishô over 

the years, the concept of a hostel (an acceptable term to describe a home for students and 

workers in the 1960s) became know as óHalls of Residenceô, a far more acceptable expression 

in late 20
th
 century idiom. 

 

 
Chester House Halls of Residence 

 
In 1960, Pinner Lodge became the ministerôs manse and was to remain so until 1978. 

 

1964 saw a trip to Canada led by Leslie & Jean Lee and Guy Chester. It was this year that the 

Thursday Club was renamed Young Wives Club and, on 14
th
 November 1964, Pauline Webb, 

then Vice President, preached at Muswell Hill. She has visited the pulpit several times since. 

 

In 1965, Rev C Cyril Eastwood gave way to Rev John Chamberlayne, as Muswell Hillôs new 

minister. It is reported with some amusement that the notice board outside the church in 

August 1965 stated that ñAll sinners are welcome here. Next Sunday we welcome our new 

ministerò. John Chamberlayne, possessing an imposing stature at 6ft 8in (his wife Mary was a 

diminutive 5ft 1in), had always taken a keen interest in Scouting; it was therefore fitting that 

upon arriving at Muswell Hill, he should accept the appointment of Group Scoutmaster.  

 

In 1966 the Methodist Home (MHA), the Meadow, opened and a year later, at the other end 

of the spectrum, a new youth club Circle Youth Club (formed from Youth Fellowship and 

Young Peopleôs Circle) was started. 
 

Youth Work in the 1970s  
 
Rev Clifford Hind followed Rev John Chamberlayne as minister in 1972. At the beginning of 

Clifford Hindôs ministry, there was a televised Songs of Praise, but also a Boysô Brigade 

Company (the 14
th
 Haringey) was formed under the Captaincy of Ken Andrews.  One of the 

features during the early years of the Company was the parade around local streets after the 

monthly family service when the band would wake up any neighbours having a Sunday lie in!  
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The 14
th
 Haringey was successful in many Boysô Brigade competitions and it also took part 

several times in the London District Display at the Albert Hall.  An annual display was held, 

first in the old Church hall, then in St Andrewôs and latterly in the new church in Pages Lane.  

In 1982, following the death of Ken Andrews, John Abson took over the Captaincy and later, 

when their Church closed, the officers and boys from the Boysô Brigade at Pembroke Road 

Methodist Church joined the Muswell Hill Company. John was succeeded as Captain by Alan 

Connor.  

 

It was during Clifford Hindôs ministry that, sadly, Guy Chester died on Sunday morning after 

worship on 21
st
 October 1973, in the gardens of North Bank. Rev Clifford Hind was 

succeeded by Rev Robert Tyreman in 1977. It was at this time that the manse at Pinner Lodge 

in Colney Hatch Lane was replaced by a new manse at 49 Pages Lane, where it remains 

today. Interestingly, Pinner Lodge was sold to the famous rock star Rod Stewart for his 

parents to live in. 

  

In September 1978, the Broadsheet, the churchôs regular newsletter, was replaced by 

óWellspringô which saw its first issue produced that month under the editorship of Alastair 

Scouller. However, it wasnôt until May 1985, just as the new church was coming into use, that 

Wellspring was first produced using a word processor. Wellspring is still going strong nearly 

30 years later.  

 

 
First Edition of the Wellspring Church magazine 

 

The late 1970s saw a number of developments in the work with and for young people. In 

1978, the Shell group (for 11-14 year olds) started and the Sunday Discussion Group (for 13-

18 year olds) regrouped. After many years of the 20+ group, 1979 saw the emergence of the 

óAfter Eight Clubô; this group was set up to provide fellowship for those in their early 

twenties, but in fact it only lasted one year before re-emerging again in 1983 for five years as 

óAfter Eightsô with a core membership of some 15 young adults (including I might add, the 

editor of this book). 
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Old Church Demolished and Plans for the Future  
  
The 1980s saw probably the biggest changes in the history of Methodism in Muswell Hill. 

Ominously, the decade started with Chester House Hostel requesting for money to replace 

their roof at a cost of £70,000. However, it was the church itself that was to uncover far more 

serious building problems. Following an exploratory survey in 1980, it was announced that up 

to Ã60,000 was needed to renovate the church, but a surveyorôs report a year later revealed 

that the problem was far worse and that the difficult decision to pull down the church building 

itself needed to be taken. Meanwhile, the Meadow underwent an extension at a cost of 

£80,000, 

 

In the middle of all the building concerns, the church did not forget its spiritual and 

community obligations and in September 1980 a survey was undertaken concerning the state 

of churchôs activities and mission as well as its potential plans for the future; over 70 replies 

were received from church members. Two new ventures started at this time, when in February 

1981, the Wednesday Club commenced, whilst in September 1981 a new group called óOpen 

Houseô met after evening services. Sunday School rejuvenated itself by launching renamed 

groups including Starters, Sunday Gang, Chips and óuô. Parents and Toddlers started in 5
th
 

October 1983. A new Youth Club also started on 24
th
 October 1985. 

 

 
Making Music with the Youth Group in 1983 

 
The church held many meetings to decide what to do regarding new premises, but in the end 

it was decided not to rebuilt the church on the Colney Hatch Lane site but to build a new 

church adjoining North Bank itself. The Planning committee of Haringey Council saw a 

model of the new church at its meeting on 7
th
 March 1982 and approved the plans. 

Christopher Lelliott of Daniel & Lelliott in Maidenhead was appointed as architect. 

Meanwhile, the sale of the old site stuttered for a while as Haringey Council rejected the 

initial plans for residential housing on the site. However, new plans were finally approved 

(Caroline Lodge now stands on the site) and the land was sold to property developers on 20
th
 

January 1982. The church was allowed to carry on using the premises for a period of 6 

months, but finally, on 30
th
 May 1982, the last service in the old church was held. Services 

during May had focussed on óThanksgivingô and were led by a number of honoured ministers, 

including Rev Stanley Leyland, Rev Douglas Hubery, Rev Clifford Hind, Rev Douglas 

Brown and of course the then minister, Rev Bob Tyerman. 
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On 6
th
 June, 1982 services started to be held at St Andrews Church of England Church in 

Alexandra Park Road at 11.15am and 6.30pm. A month later Bob Tyerman handed over the 

ministerial reins of Muswell Hill to Rev Hugh Temple Bone. Bob Tyermanôs final words for 

Wellspring included these words:    

 

ñDear Friends 

Our month of Thanksgiving Services are completed and the building which has housed 

Christian worshippers for 80 years will no longer resound with Methodist fervour. On the 

final Sunday there was a deep sadness expressed with chaste yet splendid dignity, as befitted 

the building itself. There was vigour and radiance, emerging particularly in the singing that 

over-arched the sombreness of the occasion with a rainbow of hope and faith and Christian 

joy. I felt a glow of admiration for those life-long members who, like the building, concealed 

from all but the close observer, the signs of strain and stressfulness they were experiencing. 

However, the sense of Pilgrimage was born within us as we remembered the significance of 

Whit Sunday and under the leading of that same Spirit who created the Church, we were led 

out to face the next stage of Methodist history in Muswell Hill. I have no doubt that that 

history will be imaginative, exciting and an authentic expression of the same Holy Spirit 

whose coming we celebrated.ò 

 

Building of a New Church  
 
After 2 years of using St Andrews, the Methodists returned to their own premises for worship. 

On Oct 7
th
 1984, morning services began to be held in the Garden Room in North Bank and 

started at the earlier time of 10.45am. The time of Morning Services would only return to 

11am when worship commenced in the new church in March 1985. 

 

Although the cost of building the new church was financed mainly from the sale of the old 

site, the church itself needed to raise funds to cover the difference. Amongst the major 

fundraising events were a concert by Maddy Prior on 11
th
 Feb 1981 and a concert by Nigel 

Ogdon of BBCôs óThe Organist Entertainsô fame. The garden party in 1982 raised Ã3,000 and 

even a mile (and a bit) of pennies ï instigated by the Boysô Brigade ï raised £785. 

 

 
Chapel in Pages Lane Church 
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In 1982, a fundraising target of £50,000 was set. By May 1983, when costs had risen, the 

target was raised to £70,000. By December that year, it had risen again to £85,000. It is a 

credit to the church membership that they rose to the financial challenge and over the next 

two years fundraising increased accordingly.  

 By February 1984, £32,377 had been raised,  

 By April 1984, £37,993 had been raised, 

 By August 1984, £50,433 had been raised, 

 By February 1985, £60,425 had been raised, 

 By June 1985, £65,785 had been raised, 

 By August 1985, £73,314 had been raised, 

 By September 1985, £75,707 had been raised. 

The full amount was raised soon after this. 

 

The cost for the work totalled £321,000 of which £85,000 was found locally, £26,000 from 

the Circuit Advance fund, £280,000 from the sale of the church and £30,000 from grants.  

 

Rev Hugh Bone, who had arrived in September, 1982 with his wife Eileen, is quoted as 

saying ñI have never before been a minister of church without a church. It made me realise 

that the Church is ópeopleô rather than óbuildingô.ò Rev Bone was also took up the 

appointment as Methodist Chaplain at Holloway Prison.  

 

New Home in Pages Lane  
 

When plans for the new church were established, it was agreed to transfer the stained glass, 

the carpets, the war memorial plaques and the font to the new church. In addition, the original 

organ was to be re-build and re-housed in the new church. Building work was supposed to 

start in November 1983, but in fact by October of that year a new timetable was established. 

Following the submission of 8 tenders, The Try Construction Group from Uxbridge were 

selected to build the new church. This decision was agreed at the Church Council meeting of 

2
nd

 March, 1984 and in April 1984, work to build a new Methodist Church in Muswell Hill. 

The garden party that year was notable because it was opened by Lord Soper, who famously 

declared that the children in fancy dress were so good, all of them should receive a prize; 

sadly the committee had only arranged for 2 children to receive a prize! On 21
st
 July, 1984, a 

stone-laying ceremony took place (presided over by George Thomas, Viscount Tonypandy, 

former Vice President of the Methodist Conference and Speaker of the House of Commons) 

and the new building was finally opened, again by Viscount Tonypandy, on 22
nd

 June 1985, 

although the first service to take place in the church actually occurred a few months earlier on 

31
st
 March. One of the first services in the new church, in June, featured the production of the 

óFlameô a drama by Edmund Banyard about Pentecost.  

 

 
Opening of the Pages Lane Church by George Thomas, Viscount Tonypandy (June 1985) 
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The re-building of the organ took another year to complete, but this was finally dedicated in 

June 1986 having been carefully restored by the organ maker Brian Bunting. Incidentally, it is 

reported that the first music heard on the re-built organ was heard by a select few on 13
th
 

May. The organ now consists of 2 manuals and a reduced number of stops, but many of the 

pipes survived the move to the new church and are installed in their special place on the south 

side of the church. Artificial, silvered pipes hide the real pipes, but the organ console sits 

proudly at the front of the church where it can be seen to take an active part in worship. In 

December 1986, Catherine Simms was appointed as the first organist in the new church, and 

over 20 years later she is still in post. 

 

 
The Renovated Organ Installed in the Pages Lane Church 

 

Whilst the new church was being built, one of Muswell Hillôs sister churches at Pembroke 

Road finally closed on 15
th
 June 1984. Pembroke Road church had been open only 30 years. 

 

If Rev Bob Tyermanôs role was to prepare the church for demolition, it was Rev Hugh Boneôs 

role to prepare the church for renewal. It is therefore with sadness that in early January 1985, 

Hughôs wife, Eileen, died of cancer. It is amazing that Rev Bone continued the tremendous 

work of reconstruction (physical and spiritual) amidst such difficult personal circumstances. 

 

On 16
th
 February 1986, the BBC arrived to record the Morning Service. The service was led 

by Rev David Winwood, MAYC Secretary; David was ably assisted by the MAYC orchestra 

and choir. The service was broadcast on BBC Radio 4 a week later on 23
rd
 February. Another 

feature of worship was the purchase of new Bibles for the church in April 1986 ï these are 

still in use today. 
 

The Clutterbuck Ministry  
 
The work of reconstruction complete, Rev Hugh Bone gave way to a new ministerial team in 

September 1987, with the occurrence of a two ófirstsô. Rev Richard Clutterbuck arrived, but 

for the first time in the churchôs history the ministry was shared ï with Sister Diane 

Clutterbuck ï the first female minister at Muswell Hill. The shared ministry enabled Rev 

Clutterbuck to continue his studying for his doctorate whilst ensuring that the full pastoral 

activities (including chaplaincies at the Meadow and the newly opened Paddock) continued. 

In 1987, as the Meadow celebrated its 21
st
 birthday, the Paddock, a new Methodist Homes 

sheltered housing scheme opened on the North Bank estate The Paddock consisted of twenty-

six self catering flats for up to thirty-one people. 
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The Clutterbucks oversaw a number of changes in the spiritual and practical life at Muswell 

Hill. In September 1987, the Prayer and Coffee group met for first time. In December 1988, 

the first church computer was purchased which greatly facilitated the production of 

Wellspring, weekly notices, Orders of Services for special services as well as a number of 

other miscellaneous leaflets. Sharing time (an opportunity for the congregation to share 

requests for prayer openly) was first formally introduced as a regular part of Morning 

Worship. One of the most symbolic events took place at this time, with the installation and 

dedication of the wooden cross that hangs from the church ceiling. The idea of having a 

horizontal piece slotting through the upright piece was first conceived at a Stewards meeting 

in 1988 and the cross was built and dedicated in 1989. Almost magically, it was only when 

the cross was in place that it became apparent that the spotlights illuminating the cross created 

two shadows (one light and the other darker) either side of the main wooden cross ï it was as 

though Jesusô cross hung between that of the two thieves. The unique image of the three 

crosses was so striking, that this became part of the churchôs motif (as represented on the 

front page of this book. It was also in 1989, that children were encouraged to come to the 

table during communion and actively take part in the receipt of the sacrament.  

 

 
The óThree Crossesô 

 

However, one of the biggest events of 1989, was the opening, on 29
th
 April of the Family 

Access Centre (later to be know as óContactô). The centre, which operates every Saturday, 

provides a safe, neutral and friendly environment where children from broken partnerships 

can meet and spend time with the parent they do not live with. The venture was established in 

conjunction with the local council and relevant legal groups with Diane Clutterbuck, Pearl 

Luxon, Ann Fackrell, Mary Smart and also Jean Smith being instrumental in getting the 

centre off the ground. Today, the centre is managed by Shirley Abrey, who is ably assisted by 

a number of dedicated volunteers. By 1998, 56 families and 68 children had been helped. 

 

In 1989, following the departure of Rev Baden Pearce from the Highgate circuit, Rev 

Clutterbuck became Superintendent, and in 1991 Sister Diane relinquished her ministerial 

responsibilities to concentrate on training and education activities. Rev Clutterbuck remained 

as the sole minister at Muswell Hill for the next four years. 

 

The most notable events in 1991 were the proceedings held to celebrate the centenary of the 

foundation of the Methodist community at Muswell Hill. óA Day of Thanksgiving for the 

Centenary of Muswell Hill Methodist Churchô took place on 12
th
 May, when a special Family 

Service was held at 12 noon; this was followed by an afternoon of celebration attended by 

local dignitaries with guest speaker once again Viscount Tonypandy. The Centenary Garden 

Party was held on 15
th
 June and a Festal Communion Service was held the next day on 16

th
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June ï the preacher was Rev Garth Rogers, Chairman of the District; the service also heard, 

for the first time, an anthem óThe Lord is my light and my salvationô, especially 

commissioned for the occasion, composed by Sarah Rodgers, who later was to become the 

churchôs Musical Director. 

 

Towards the end of Rev Clutterbuckôs ministry at Muswell Hill, the Highgate circuit began to 

see changes. In October 1993, the circuit lost Manor Drive, which moved into the Barnet 

circuit. The Highgate circuit was left with just Holly Park, Middle Lane and, of course, 

Muswell Hill ï the Circuit Preaching Plan looked as sparse as it had ever been! However, this 

was in preparation for a new circuit, which was to be formed in 1995, taking in churches from 

surrounding circuits. When Rev Clutterbuck departed in 1995, he was the longest serving 

minister in the history of Muswell Hill Methodist Church, having been our minister for 8 

years. However, this órecordô was to be broken by the next minister to arrive at Muswell Hill, 

namely Rev David Mullins, who stayed with us for the next 12 years until 2007 when he 

moved to take up a new ministry in Bishopôs Stortford.  
 

The Mullins Ministry  
 
So, 1995 was the dawn of a new era. Muswell Hill had a new 

minister and also was part of a new circuit, aptly named the New 

River Circuit, after the river which flows through the circuit and 

close to many of the churches. For the first time, Muswell Hill 

resided in the London North East District rather than the London 

North West District. The circuit, which still has the same 

constitution today (albeit now sitting in the London District which 

came into being in 2006), consists of nine churches ranging from 

Trinity-at-Bowes (Palmers Green) in the north to Finsbury Park in 

the south and Muswell Hill in the west to St Marks (Tottenham) in 

the east. The circuit crosses several local authority boundaries. Rev 

David Mullins eventually became Superintendent of the New River 

Circuit in 2002; this role is passed onto Rev Andy Dart in 2007.  

 

One of the first changes made under David Mullins ministry was to 

introduce a monthly Alternative Worship service; this was the 

brainchild of Rev Peter Barber, then Connexional Local Preachersô 

Secretary. The first of these services was held at 8pm on 1
st
 October 

1995 and they continued until 1
st
 April 2001; a particular feature of 

these services, which attracted people from various ages, was the use 

of different media to stimulate worship. David also oversaw the 

altering the starting time of the morning service. Whilst service times 

had varied during the move from Colney Hatch Lane to Pages Lane, 

the permanent service time had always remained at 11am. From 3
rd

 

December 1995, the time of morning services at Muswell Hill 

moved to 10.30am (the decision having been taken at the Annual 

Church Meeting in May, during Rev Clutterbuckôs ministry). 

 

Services were enhanced in May 2001 with the gift, from Jackie 

Argent, of a projector and screen, donated in memory of her husband 

Chris. Another change, that was necessitated by falling numbers, was 

the replacement of the 6.30pm Sunday Evening Services with a half 

hour Evening Prayer service at 6pm ï this change took place on 2
nd

 

September 2001 and was partly due to the commencement of a bible 

study course on Sunday evenings called Disciple, which started at 

the same time. The church had come a long way since the 1960s 

when evening congregations often numbered several hundred.  
   North Window at Pages Lane 
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Refurbishment of North Bank  

 
The North Bank Centre (later the Guy Chester Centre) started to operate in 1997 and in 

tandem with this initiative, the church wanted to re-establish its own community work, using 

North Bank as a community centre. In the early 2000s, discussions took place regarding the 

use of North Bank. The house itself was well overdue for refurbishment and indeed had 

become rather shabby. However, a programme of refurbishment would enable the building to 

make a fresh start building-wise and community-wise. This was seen as an opportunity to 

undertake a major overhaul of the building ï widening corridors for disabled access, installing 

a lift, bringing the attic floor into proper use and generally upgrading the building to meet the 

challenges of the 21
st
 century. 

 

The Spirit Level campaign was launched in the autumn of 2002 with a view to raising 

£498,200 to renovate North Bank. The Spirit Level campaign was concerned with three 

aspects of effort: people, resources and redevelopment and in addition to finding project 

funding, it also concentrated on establishing community activities. The moneys required to 

fund the project increased alarmingly, both before and during the building works, to reach a 

figure of nearer £1,250,000. The reasons for this are described in the section on the history of 

North Bank, but the impact on the church was enormous because extra financing was required 

urgently. Some of this came in increased giving, a generous award from a number of trusts 

(including £200,000 from the Big Lottery Fund) and extending loan facilities. Amongst our 

own fundraising efforts were: 

 the wonderful Flower Festival from May 2
nd

 to 5
th
 2002 which was opened by Angela 

Rippon; 

 a Son et Lumière presentation from 29
th
 to 31

st
 August 2002, telling the story of Muswell 

Hill (óKenwoodô style) in sound and light, with the help of a small group of actors; 

 a Salsa Evening, coffee mornings, candle sales, a sponsored walk of circuit churches, 

barbeques and cream tea events as well as a number of other activities over the period 

from 2002-2007. 

 

 
The Opening of the Flower Festival by Angela Rippon (May 2002) 



 
Muswell Hill Methodist Church ï OUR INHERITANCE  Page 28 

With regard to Community activity, a Community Worker, Joshua Alamu, was appointed on 

a part-time basis in June 2003. Three new community activities started in early 2004:  Baby 

Talk, meeting on a Tuesday and aimed at parents and carers with babies up to 18 months old, 

Bright Sparks for 3 to 4 year olds and their carers (activities soon to be incorporated into 

Toddlers) and the Vintage Club, a fortnightly meeting for active-minded older people.  After 

a year in this post, Joshua left to develop his musical career, so the role of Community worker 

was undertaken on a voluntary basis by Gill Simpson for the time leading up to and during the 

refurbishment. As a new era approaches, we hope to appoint a part-time Community 

Development Worker later in 2007 to work with the church in researching and resourcing 

new possibilities, using North Bank to its full potential. 

 

 
Muswell Hill Methodist Church in Pages Lane 

 

North Bank is due to re-open in September 2007 and will continue to be integral to the work 

of the Methodist society in Muswell Hill. As Rev David Mullins moves onto pastures new in 

August 2007, we welcome our new minister Rev Andrew Shepherd Dart, or rather Andy Dart 

as he will be known. This is the beginning of a new chapter in the churchôs history and along 

with it, a new opportunity to service God and His people in the Muswell Hill area. 

 
North Bank and Pages Lane Church from Gardens 
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Ministers of Muswell Hill Methodist Church from 1894 to 2007 

 

 

Rev J Leonard Posnett     1894 ï 1899 

Rev F Woodmass      1899 ï 1902 

Rev Ernest Green      1902 ï 1905 

Rev Frank Fox      1905 ï 1908 

Rev J Cartwright Adlard     1908 ï 1911 

Rev F W Beaumont      1911 ï 1914 

Rev JC Adlard  (again)     1914 ï 1918 

Rev T Seaton Davies      1919 ï 1920 

Rev F Colwyn Vale      1920 ï 1921 

Rev HS Seekings      1921 ï 1924 

Rev R Newton Flew      1924 ï 1927 

Rev Colin Roberts      1927 ï 1933 

Rev W Russell Shearer     1933 ï 1939 

Rev John Crowlesmith     1939 ï 1945 

Rev A Stanley Leyland     1945 ï 1951 

Rev Fred Cottrell        1951 ï 1955 

Rev Wilfred Fletcher Fleet     1955 ï 1962 

Rev C Cyril Eastwood      1962 ï 1965 

Rev John Chamberlayne      1965 ï 1972 

Rev Clifford Hind       1972 ï 1977 

Rev Robert Tyreman       1977 ï 1982 

Rev Hugh Temple Bone      1982 ï 1987 

Rev Richard Clutterbuck and Sister Diane Clutterbuck  1987 ï 1991 

Rev Richard Clutterbuck (continued)    1991 ï 1995 

Rev David Mullins       1995 ï 2007 

Rev Andrew Shepherd-Dart     2007 ï 
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Ministers of Muswell Hill Methodist Church from 1894 to 2007 




















































































